

# ON A CLASS OF CLOSED COCYCLES FOR ALGEBRAS OF NON-FORMAL, POSSIBLY UNBOUNDED, PSEUDODIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS

Jean-Pierre Magnot

## ► To cite this version:

Jean-Pierre Magnot. ON A CLASS OF CLOSED COCYCLES FOR ALGEBRAS OF NON-FORMAL, POSSIBLY UNBOUNDED, PSEUDODIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS. Methods in functional analysis and topology, in Press,  $10.31392/{\rm MFAT-npu26}$ . hal-04176432

## HAL Id: hal-04176432 https://hal.science/hal-04176432

Submitted on 3 Aug 2023

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



### ON A CLASS OF CLOSED COCYCLES FOR ALGEBRAS OF NON-FORMAL, POSSIBLY UNBOUNDED, PSEUDODIFFERENTIAL **OPERATORS**

#### JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT

ABSTRACT. In this article, we consider algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  of non-formal pseudodifferential operators over  $S^1$  which contain  $C^{\infty}(S^1)$ , understood as multiplication operators. We apply a construction of Chern-Weil type forms in order to get 2k-closed cocycles. For k = 1, we obtain a cocycle on the algebra of (maybe non classical) pseudodifferential operators with the same cohomology class as the Schwinger cocycle on the algebra of Classical pseudodifferential operators, previously extended and studied by the author on algebras of the same type.

#### CONTENTS

Introduction	1
1. Preliminaries	2
1.1. A panoramic overview on pseudodifferential operators	2
1.2. Rigorous approach to pseudodifferential operators	3
1.3. The splitting with induced by the connected components of $T^*S^1 \setminus S^1$ .	4
1.4. Renormalized traces of classical pseudodifferential operator	5
2. A family of cocycles	6
3. $tr\Omega$ is cohomologous to the Schwinger cocycle on $Cl(S^1, V)$ .	8
4. Conclusion	8
References	9

#### INTRODUCTION

We present here a construction of a family of cocycles on the Lie algebra of maybe unbounded, maybe non classical, non formal pseudodifferential opeartors  $PDO(S^1, V)$ . Cocycles on algebras of pseudodifferential operators have been studied from the viewpoint of algebras of formal symbols, see e.g. [11, 14] for cocycles related to our study, or algebras of non-formal but classical pseudo-differential operators, see e.g. [31]. In the last study, the notion of renormalized trace plays an important role, as well as in e.g. the works [4, 5, 26] where these cocycles are shown to be linked with anomalies in physics via differential geometric considerations.

In our works [17, 19, 20], we made more precise the link between various aspects:

- the Kravchenko-Khesin cocycle [14] on formal pseudodifferential operators over  $S^1$
- the index cocycle on the restricted linear group  $GL_{res}$  defined in [30]
- the approach by Radul [31]
- the Schwinger cocycle [33], see e.g. [4, 26],

and we showed [20] that the Schwinger cocycle and the index cocycle could be extended to the algebra  $PDO(S^1, V)$  of maybe unbounded, maybe on classical, non formal pseudodifferential operators over  $S^1$ .

<sup>2020</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 17B56, 22E66, 47G30, 58B25, 58J40.

#### JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT

We come back to this program in the present work by adding a new idea to our investigations: integrate the classical formulas for Chern-Weil forms  $\operatorname{tr}\Omega^k$  in order to define (closed) 2k-cocycles on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ . For this task, the classical Bianchi identity is obtained algebraically on the Lie algebra  $PDO(S^1, V)$  and the connection that we consider is with values in smoothing operators. This enables us to consider tr as the classical trace of trace class operators, even if technical steps of our investigations require zeta-renormalized traces along the lines of [29, 34]. In this framework, classical computations of Chern-Weil forms apply and we show that  $\operatorname{tr}\Omega^k$  is a 2k-cocycle on  $PDO(S^1, V)$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ .

For k = 1, even if our connection gives a slightly different 2-cocycle tr $\Omega$  from the one studied in [20], we show that this 2-cocycle related to the cohomology class of the Schwinger cocycle. We have to remark that we are here able to prove that these two cocycles have the same cohomology class (up to a factor) on the algebra of *classical* pseudodifferential operators, but we have no information of this kind for  $PDO(S^1, V)$  (except that tr $\Omega$  is not a coboundary), except that it is not a coboundary.

#### 1. Preliminaries

There are multiple frameworks that call, under the name pseudodifferential operator, various objects which may not be (true) operators acting on sections of a finite dimensional complex vector bundle. These last ones are called *formal*, while the others are called *non formal*. Moreover, there exists restricted classes of pseudo-differential operators: *classical*, *log-polyhomogeneous* among others. For the sake of clarity and for a comprehensive exposition, we start by a non-technical presentation of the operators that we consider, and a more rigorous description will follow.

1.1. A panoramic overview on pseudodifferential operators. We specialize below to the trivial complex vector bundle  $S^1 \times V$  in which V is a d-dimensional complex vector space. The following definition appears in [3, Section 2.1].

**Definition 1.1.** The graded algebra of differential operators acting on the space of smooth sections  $C^{\infty}(S^1, V)$  is the algebra  $DO(S^1, V)$  generated by:

- Elements of  $C^{\infty}(S^1, M_d(\mathbb{C}))$
- Covariant derivation operators

$$\nabla_X : g \in C^{\infty}(S^1, E) \mapsto \nabla_X g$$

where  $\nabla$  is a smooth connection on E and X is a smooth vector field on  $S^1$ .

We assign the order 0 to smooth function multiplication operators. The derivation operators have the order 1. We denote by  $DO^k(S^1, V), k \ge 0$ , the differential operators of order less or equal than k. The algebra  $DO(S^1, V)$  is filtered by the order. It is a subalgebra of the algebra of classical pseudo-differential operators  $Cl(S^1, V)$  that we describe shortly hereafter, focusing on its necessary aspects. This is an algebra that contains, for example, the square root of the Laplacian

$$|D| = \Delta^{1/2} = \int_{\Gamma} \lambda^{1/2} (\Delta - \lambda Id)^{-1} d\lambda, \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $\Delta = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2}$  is the positive Laplacian and  $\Gamma$  is a contour around the spectrum of the Laplacian, see e.g. [32, 29] for an exposition on contour integrals of pseudodifferential operators.  $Cl(S^1, V)$  contains also the inverse of  $Id + \Delta$ , and all smoothing operators on  $L^2(S^1, V)$ .

Wider classes of pseudo-differential operators can be also considered. An example of frequent use remains on the real powers of the Laplacian  $\Delta^{\alpha}$ , where  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , defined through contour integrals like  $\Delta^{1/2}$  already mentioned. One can define the same way

 $\log \Delta$ . Pseudodifferential operators (maybe non-classical) are linear operators acting on  $C^{\infty}(S^1, V)$  which reads locally as

$$A(f) = \int e^{ix.\xi} \sigma(x,\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi$$

where  $\sigma \in C^{\infty}(T^*S^1, M_n(\mathbb{C}))$  satisfying additional estimates on its partial derivatives which will be given in a detailed form next section and  $\hat{f}$  means the Fourier transform of f.

Another special class of pseudo-differential operators is also of great interest. This is the set of smoothnig pseudo-differential operators. They are equivalently:

- classical pseudo-differential operators with order  $-\infty$ , that is, they are in the set of classical pseudo-differential operators k for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ .
- pseudodifferential operators defined on  $L^2(S^1, V)$  with values in  $C^{\infty}(S^1, V)$ , which explains the terminology.
- operators with a smooth kernel  $K \in C^{\infty}(S^1 \times S^1, M_n(\mathbb{C})).$

These operators from an ideal in any algebra of pseudo-differential operators. Quotienting by this ideal, we obtain algebras of *formal* pseudo-differential operators.

1.2. Rigorous approach to pseudodifferential operators. Basic facts on pseudodifferential operators defined on a vector bundle  $E \to S^1$  can be found e.g. in [8]. Let us now recall them in a rigorous exposition, as brief as possible, concentrating our exposition on pseudo-differential operators over  $S^1$  which is equipped with an atlas in which changes of coordinates are affine maps. This is made possible through the structure of abelian group of  $S^1$ , where the atlas considered is the atlas obtained through the exponential map. We set  $S^1 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = 1\}$ . We shall use for convenience the smooth atlas  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $S^1$  defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{A} = \{\varphi_0, \varphi_1\};$$
  
$$\varphi_n : x \in ]0; 2\pi[\mapsto e^{i(x+n\pi)} \subset S^1 \text{ for } n \in \{0, 1\}$$

Associated to this atlas, we fix a smooth partition of the unit  $\{s_0; s_1\}$ . We identify each of these functions with its associated multiplication operator when necessary. An operator  $A: C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C}) \to C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C})$  can be described in terms of 4 operators

$$A_{m,n}: f \mapsto s_m \circ A \circ s_n \text{ for } (m,n) \in \{0,1\}^2.$$

A scalar pseudo-differential operator of order o is an operator

$$A: C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C}) \to C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C})$$

such that,  $\forall (m, n) \in \{0, 1\}^2$ ,

$$A_{m,n}(f) = \int_{]0;2\pi[} e^{-ix\xi} \sigma_{m,n}(x,\xi)(\hat{s_n}f)(\xi) d\xi$$

where  $\sigma_{m,n} \in C^{\infty}(]0; 2\pi[\times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$  satisfies

$$\forall (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{N}^2, \quad |D_x^{\alpha} D_{\xi}^{\beta} \sigma_{m,n}(x,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,\beta} (1+|\xi|)^{o-\beta}.$$

We note by  $PDO(S^1, V)$  the space of maybe non classical, maybe unbounded, pseudodifferential operators acting on  $C^{\infty}(S^1, V)$ . A pseudo-differential operator of order o is called **classical** if and only if its symbols  $\sigma$  have an asymptotic expansion  $\sigma(x,\xi) \sim_{|\xi| \to +\infty} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{o} \sigma_j(x,\xi)$ , where the maps  $\sigma_j : S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{C}$ , called **partial symbols**, are i-positively homogeneous, i.e.

$$\forall t > 0, (x,\xi) \in S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^*, (\sigma)_j(x,t\xi) = t^j(\sigma)_j(x,\xi).$$

The class of log-polyhomogeneous pseudo-differential operators can be also described this way. These are operators in  $Cl(S^1, V)[\log(\Delta)]$ , which inherits also a second degree, from the evaluation of  $Cl(S^1, V)$ -polynomials at  $\log(\Delta)$ .

Pseudodifferential operators can be also described by their kernel

$$K(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{i(x-y)\xi} \sigma(x,\xi) d\xi$$

which is off-diagonal smooth. Pseudodifferential operators with infinitely smooth kernel (or "smoothing" operators).

The quotient

$$\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) = Cl(S^1, V) / PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V)$$

of the algebra of pseudo-differential operators by  $PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V)$  forms the algebra of formal classical pseudo-differential operators.

Remark 1.2. Through identification of  $\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$  with the corresponding space of formal symbols, the space  $\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$  is equipped with the natural locally convex topology inherited from the space of formal symbols. A formal symbol  $\sigma_k$  is a smooth function in  $C^{\infty}(T^*S^1 \setminus S^1, M_n(\mathbb{C}))$  which is k-homogeneous (for k > 0)), and hence with an element of  $C^{\infty}(S^1, M_n(\mathbb{C}))^2$  evaluating  $\sigma_k$  at  $\xi = 1$  and  $\xi = -1$ , see [19, 25]. Identifyting  $\mathcal{F}Cl^d(S^1, V)$  with

$$\prod_{k \le d} C^{\infty}(S^1, M_n(\mathbb{C}))^2,$$

the vector space  $\mathcal{F}Cl^d(S^1, V)$  is a Fréchet space, and hence

 $\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) = \cup_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}Cl^d(S^1, V)$ 

is a locally convex topological algebra.

1.3. The splitting with induced by the connected components of  $T^*S^1 \setminus S^1$ . In this section, we define two ideals of the algebra  $\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$ , that we call  $\mathcal{F}Cl_+(S^1, V)$  and  $\mathcal{F}Cl_-(S^1, V)$ , such that  $\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) = \mathcal{F}Cl_+(S^1, V) \oplus \mathcal{F}Cl_-(S^1, V)$ . This decomposition is explicit in [10, section 4.4., p. 216], and we give an explicit description here following [17, 19].

**Definition 1.3.** Let  $\sigma$  be a partial symbol of order o on E. Then, we define, for  $(x,\xi) \in T^*S^1 \setminus S^1$ ,

$$\sigma_{+}(x,\xi) = \begin{cases} \sigma(x,\xi) & \text{if } \xi > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } \xi < 0 \end{cases} \text{ and } \sigma_{-}(x,\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi > 0\\ \sigma(x,\xi) & \text{if } \xi < 0 \end{cases}$$

We define  $p_+(\sigma) = \sigma_+$  and  $p_-(\sigma) = \sigma_-$ .

The maps  $p_+ : \mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) \to \mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$  and  $p_- : \mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) \to \mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$ are clearly smooth algebra morphisms (yet non-unital morphisms) that leave the order invariant and are also projections (since multiplication on formal symbols is expressed in terms of pointwise multiplication of tensors).

**Definition 1.4.** We define  $\mathcal{F}Cl_+(S^1, V) = Im(p_+) = Ker(p_-)$  and  $\mathcal{F}Cl_-(S^1, V) = Im(p_-) = Ker(p_+).$ 

Since  $p_+$  is a projection, we have the splitting

$$\mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V) = \mathcal{F}Cl_+(S^1, V) \oplus \mathcal{F}Cl_-(S^1, V).$$

Let us give another characterization of  $p_+$  and  $p_-$ . The operator  $D = -i\frac{d}{dx}$  splits  $C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$  into three spaces :

- its kernel  $E_0$ , built of constant maps

-  $E_+$ , the vector space spanned by eigenvectors related to positive eigenvalues

-  $E_{-}$ , the vector space spanned by eigenvectors related to negative eigenvalues.

The  $L^2$ -orthogonal projection on  $E_0$  is a smoothing operator, which has null formal symbol. By the way, concentrating our attention on thr formal symbol of operators, we can ignore this projection and hence we work on  $E_+ \oplus E_-$ . When dealing with non-formal operators, we shall set  $p_+ = p_{E_+}$ . The following elementary result will be useful for the sequel.

#### Lemma 1.5. [17, 19]

Let  $p_{E_+}$  (resp.  $p_{E_-}$ ) be the projection on  $E_+$  (resp.  $E_-$ ), then  $\sigma(p_{E_+}) = \frac{1}{2}(Id + \frac{\xi}{|\xi|})$ and  $\sigma(p_{E_-}) = \frac{1}{2}(Id - \frac{\xi}{|\xi|})$ .

From this, we have the following result.

**Proposition 1.6.** [17, 19] Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}Cl(S^1, V)$ .  $p_+(A) = \sigma(p_{E_+}) \circ A = A \circ \sigma(p_{E_+})$  and  $p_-(A) = \sigma(p_{E_-}) \circ A = A \circ \sigma(p_{E_-})$ .

**Notation.** For shorter notations, we note by  $A_{\pm} = p_{\pm}(A)$  the formal operators defined from another viewpoint by

$$\sigma(A_{+})(x,\xi) \quad (\text{ resp. } \sigma(A_{-})(x,\xi)) = \begin{cases} \sigma(A)(x,\xi) & \text{if } \xi > 0 & (\text{ resp. } \xi < 0) \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi < 0 & (\text{ resp. } \xi > 0) \end{cases}$$

We now turn to maybe non classical pseudo-differential operators, along the lines of [20]:

**Proposition 1.7.** For any  $A \in PDO(S^1, V)$ ,

$$[A, p_{E_+}] \in PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V).$$

1.4. Renormalized traces of classical pseudodifferential operator.  $S^1 \times V$  is equiped this an Hermitian products  $\langle ., . \rangle$ , which induces the following  $L^2$ -inner product on  $C^{\infty}(S^1, V)$ :

$$\forall u, v \in C^{\infty}(S^1, V), \quad (u, v)_{L^2} = \int_{S^1} \langle u(x), v(x) \rangle dx,$$

where dx is the Riemannian volume.

**Definition 1.8.** Q is a weight of order s > 0 on E if and only if Q is a classical, elliptic, self-adjoint, positive pseudo-differential operator acting on smooth sections of E.

Recall that, under these assumptions, the weight Q has a real discrete spectrum, and that all its eigenspaces are finite dimensional. For such a weight Q of order q, one can define the complex powers of Q [32], see e.g. [4] for a fast overview of technicalities. The powers  $Q^{-s}$  of the weight Q are defined for Re(s) > 0 using with a contour integral,

$$Q^{-s} = \int_{\Gamma} \lambda^s (Q - \lambda Id)^{-1} d\lambda,$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a contour around the real positive axis. Let A be a log-polyhomogeneous pseudo-differential operator. The map  $\zeta(A, Q, s) = s \in \mathbb{C} \mapsto \operatorname{tr} (AQ^{-s}) \in \mathbb{C}$ , defined for Re(s) large, extends on  $\mathbb{C}$  to a meromorphic function [16]. When A is classical,  $\zeta(A, Q, .)$ has a simple pole at 0 with residue  $\frac{1}{q}\operatorname{res}_W A$ , where  $\operatorname{res}_W$  is the Wodzicki residue ([35], see also [10]). Notice that the Wodzicki residue extends the Adler trace [2] on formal symbols. Following textbooks [29, 34] for the renormalized trace of classical operators, we define

**Definition 1.9.** Let A be a log-polyhomogeneous pseudo-differential operator. The finite part of  $\zeta(A, Q, s)$  at s = 0 is called the renormalized trace  $\operatorname{tr}^Q A$ . If A is a classical pseudo-differential operator,

$$\operatorname{tr}^{Q} A = \lim_{s \to 0} (\operatorname{tr}(AQ^{-s}) - \frac{1}{qs} \operatorname{res}_{W}(A).$$

#### JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT

If A is trace class acting on  $L^2(S^1, \mathbb{C}^k)$ ,  $\operatorname{tr}^Q(A) = \operatorname{tr}(A)$ . The functional  $\operatorname{tr}^Q$  is of course not a trace. In this formula, it appears that the Wodzicki residue  $\operatorname{res}_W(A)$ .

#### Proposition 1.10.

(i) The Wodzicki residue  $\operatorname{res}_W$  is a trace on the algebra of classical pseudo-differential operators  $Cl(S^1, E)$ , i.e.  $\forall A, B \in Cl(S^1, V)$ ,  $\operatorname{res}_W[A, B] = 0$ .

(ii) (local formula for the Wodzicki residue) Moreover, if  $A \in Cl(S^1, V)$ ,

$$\operatorname{res}_{W} A = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{S^{1}} \int_{|\xi|=1} tr\sigma_{-1}(x,\xi) d\xi dx = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{\xi=\pm 1} \int_{S^{1}} tr\sigma_{-1}(x,\xi) d\xi dx$$

In particular,  $res_W$  does not depend on the choice of Q.

Since  $\operatorname{tr}^{Q}$  is a linear extension of the classical trace tr of trace-class operators acting on  $L^{2}(S, V)$ , it has weaker properties. Let us summarize some of them which are of interest for our work following first [4], completed by [22] for the third point.

### **Proposition 1.11.** given a weight Q, Given two (classical) pseudo-differential operators A and B,

$$\operatorname{tr}^{Q}[A,B] = -\frac{1}{q}\operatorname{res}(A[B,\log Q]).$$
(1.2)

• Under the previous notations, if C is a classical elliptic injective operator or a diffeomorphism,  $tr^{C^{-1}QC}(C^{-1}AC)$  is well-defined and equals  $tr^QA$ .

Since  $tr^Q$  is not tracial, let us give one more property on the renormalized trace of the bracket, from e.g. [24].

#### Proposition 1.12.

$$\forall (A,B) \in PDO^{-\infty}(S^1,V) \times Cl(S^1,V), \quad \operatorname{tr}^Q[A,B] = \operatorname{tr}[A,B] = 0.$$

Moreover, we can push further the property on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ :

#### Proposition 1.13.

$$\forall (A,B) \in PDO^{-\infty}(S^1,V) \times PDO(S^1,V), \quad \text{tr}[A,B] = 0.$$

Proof. Let  $(A, B) \in PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V) \times PDO(S^1, V)$ . Let o = ord(B). Then  $(1 + |D|)^{o+2}$  is a pseudodifferential operator of order o + 2 with inverse  $(1 + |D|)^{-o-2}$ . Since A is smoothing, [A, B] is also smoothing and hence trace class. Therefore, the following expression makes sense and we can compute (since we are commuting operators of order -2 at most, which are trace class anyway):

$$tr(AB) = tr(A(1+|D|)^{o+2}(1+|D|)^{-o-2}B)$$
  
=  $tr((1+|D|)^{-o-2}BA(1+|D|)^{o+2})$   
=  $tr(BA(1+|D|)^{o+2}(1+|D|)^{-o-2})$   
=  $tr(BA).$ 

#### 2. A family of cocycles

We consider the Lie algebra cohomology of  $PDO(S^1, V)$  and of its Lie subalgebras.

**Definition 2.1.** We define on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ 

$$\theta : (a,b) \in PDO(S^1,V) \mapsto \theta_a(b) = a \circ p_{E_+} \circ b.$$

In order to understand better our construction, we have to precise that the reader has to understand  $\theta$  as a 1-form

$$a \mapsto \theta_a = (a \circ p_{E_+}) \circ (.)$$

with values in linear maps on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ , in order to understand better the link of this construction with the theory of connection 1-forms. This linear map is only a composition operator, in the spirit of the connection 1-forms described in [24].

Remark 2.2. On formal symbols,

$$\sigma\left(\theta(a)\right) = \sigma(a)_{+}.$$

Therefore, we consider the curvature  $\Omega$  of the connection  $\theta$ , that is,

$$\Omega(a,b) = \theta_a \theta_b - \theta_b \theta_a - \theta_{[a,b]}$$

which is, like  $\theta_a$ , is an operator of coomposition on the left, i.e.

$$\Omega(a,b) = s(a,b) \circ (.).$$

**Proposition 2.3.** 
$$\Omega$$
 is a  $PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V)$ -valued 2-form, in the sense that .

$$\forall (a,b,c) \in PDO(S^1,V)^3, \quad \Omega(a,b)c = sc$$

where  $s(a, b) \in PDO^{-\infty}(S^1, V)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $(a, b, c) \in PDO(S^1, V)^3$ . From Proposition 1.7,

$$ap_{E_+}bp_{E_+} - bp_{E_+}ap_{E_+} = [a, b]p_{E_+} + s(a, b)$$

where

$$s(a,b) = a[p_{E_+},b]p_{E_+} - b[p_{E_+},a]p_{E_+}$$

is a smoothing operator. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \Omega(a,b)c &= (\theta_a \theta_b - \theta_b \theta_a - \theta_{[a,b]})c \\ &= (ap_{E_+}bp_{E_+} - bp_{E_+}ap_{E_+}c - [a,b]p_{E_+})c \\ &= s(a,b)c \end{split}$$

We now consider

$$\Omega^{k}(a_{1},...,a_{2k}) = \Omega \wedge ... \wedge \Omega(a_{1},...,a_{2k}) = s^{k}(a_{1},...,a_{2k}) \circ (.).$$

with

$$s^{k}(a_{1},...,a_{2k}) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{G}_{2k}} \frac{(-1)^{\epsilon(\sigma)}}{2k!} \prod_{i=1}^{k} s(a_{\sigma(2i-1)},a_{\sigma(2i)})$$

Since s is with values in smoothing operators, so is the 2k-form  $s^k$ . By slight abuse of notations, we define the 2k-form with values in  $\mathbb{C}$ :

$$tr(\Omega^k) = tr(s^k) \tag{2.1}$$

where tr is the trace of trace-class operators on  $L^2(S^1, V)$ . Since  $\Omega(a, b) = s(a, b) \circ (.)$  is the composition on the left by a smoothing operator, we will now understand  $tr(\Omega^k)$ , and the similar expressions, along the lines of (2.1). This is the main property to get the following theorem

**Theorem 2.4.** The Chern-Weil like forms

$$\operatorname{tr}(\Omega^k)$$

define closed 2k-cocycles in Lie algebra cohomology of  $PDO(S^1, V)$ .

*Proof.* We compute directly the coboundary

$$dtr\Omega^k = trd\Omega^k$$

and reduce the computation to

$$d\Omega = -[\theta, \Omega].$$

Therefore,

$$dtr\Omega^k = -tr[\theta, \Omega^k] \\ = 0$$

applying Proposition 1.13.

This result remains valid for any Lie subalgebra  $\mathcal{A} \subset PDO(S^1, V)$ . Let us now give a key elementary lemma about non-exactness, already applied in [20]:

**Lemma 2.5.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a Lie subalgebra of  $PDO(S^1, V)$ . Let c be a cocycle on  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a commutative Lie subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ , i.e.  $[\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B}] = \{0\}$ . If c is non vanishing on  $\mathcal{B}$ , then c is not exact.

3. tr $\Omega$  is cohomologous to the Schwinger cocycle on  $Cl(S^1, V)$ .

**Theorem 3.1.** On  $Cl(S^1, V)$ , tr $\Omega$  has the same cohomology class as  $\frac{1}{2}c_s$ , where  $c_s$  is the Schwinger cocycle. By the way it has non-trivial Lie algebra cohomology class on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ .

*Proof.* First, let  $(X, Y) \in Cl(S^1, V)^2$ . We have that

$$\operatorname{tr}\Omega(X,Y) = \operatorname{tr}^{\Delta}\left[\theta_X,\theta_Y\right] - \operatorname{tr}^{\Delta}\theta_{[X,Y]}.$$

The term  $\operatorname{tr}^{\Delta}\theta_{[X,Y]}$  is a coboundary. Let us calculate  $\operatorname{tr}^{\Delta}[\theta_X, \theta_Y]$ . For this, we remark that  $\sigma(\theta_X) = \sigma_+(X)$  thus

$$\operatorname{tr}^{\Delta}\left[\theta_{X},\theta_{Y}\right] = -\frac{i}{2\pi} \operatorname{res}\sigma_{+}(X)\left[\sigma_{+}(Y), \log\Delta\right].$$

The last term thus can be identified with the pull-back of the Kravchenko-Khesin-Radul cocycle on  $Cl(S^1, V)$  so that it has the same cohomology class as the Schwinger cocycle following [19].

If tr $\Omega$  was a coboundary on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ , it would be also a coboundary on  $Cl(S^1, V)$ . So that, tr $\Omega$  has non-trivial Hochschild cohomology class on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ .

We have here to remark that the full comparison of tr $\Omega$  with  $\frac{1}{2}c_s$  remains an open question, because the correspondence is only established on  $Cl(S^1, V)$ .

#### 4. Conclusion

The family of cocycles on  $PDO(S^1, V)$  that we produced show that there can exist some 2k-cocycles on  $PDO(S^1, V)$ . Beside the 2-cocycle tr $\Omega$  which is cohomologous to the well-known Schwinger cocycle on  $Cl(S^1, V)$  we get the following open question:

Prove that there exists other non-trivial cocycles in our family.

More generally and algebraically, the full description of the Hochschild cohomoloy of various Lie subalgebras of  $PDO(S^1, V)$  (especially those with some unbounded operators) needs to be investigated. From a geometric viewpoint, the meaning of the higher Chern-Weil forms that we describe here, intrinsically liked with the sign of the Dirac operator, carry interpretations that can be only heuristic since the classical differential geometry (with atlases) fail to apply, but the seem intrinsically linked with the integrable almost

complex structure described in [25] in the context of formal classical pseudo-differential operators.

#### References

- Adams, M.; Ratiu, T.; Schmidt, R.; A Lie group structure for pseudodifferential operators; *Math. Annalen* 273, 529-551 (1986).
- [2] Adler, M.; On a trace functionnal for formal pseudo-differential operators and the symplectic structure of Korteweg-de Vries type equations *Inventiones Math.* 50 219-248 (1979)
- [3] Berline, N.; Getzleer, E.; Vergne, M.; Heat Kernels and Dirac Operators Springer (2004)
- [4] Cardona, A.; Ducourtioux, C.; Magnot, J-P.; Paycha, S.; Weighted traces on pseudo-differential operators and geometry on loop groups; *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.* 5 no4 503-541 (2002)
- [5] Cardona, A.; Ducourtioux, C.; Paycha, S.; From tracial anomalies to anomalies in quantum field theory Comm. Math. Phys. 242 no 1-2 31-65 (2003)
- [6] Cederwall, M.; Ferretti, G.; Nilsson, B; Westerberg, A.; Schwinger terms and cohomology of pseudo-differential operators Comm. Math. Phys. 175, 203-220 (1996)
- [7] Freed, D.; The Geometry of loop groups J. Diff. Geome. 28 223-276 (1988)
- [8] Gilkey, P; Invariance theory, the heat equation and the Atiyah-Singer index theorem Publish or Perish (1984)
- [9] Hörmander, L.; Fourier integral operators. I; Acta Mathematica 127 79-189 (1971)
- [10] Kassel, Ch.; Le résidu non commutatif (d'après M. Wodzicki) Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1988/89. Astérisque 177-178, Exp. No. 708, 199-229 (1989)
- [11] Khesin, B.; Wendt, R.; The Geometry of Infinite-Dimensional Groups Springer Verlag (2009)
- [12] Kontsevich, M.; Vishik, S.; Determinants of elliptic pseudo-differential operators Max Plank Institut fur Mathematik, Bonn, Germany, preprint n. 94-30 (1994)
- [13] Kontsevich, M.; Vishik, S.; Geometry of determinants of elliptic operators. Functional analysis on the eve of the 21st century, Vol. 1 (New Brunswick, NJ, 1993), Progr. Math. 131,173-197 (1995)
- [14] Kravchenko, O.S.; Khesin, B.A.; A central extension of the algebra of pseudo-differential symbols Funct. Anal. Appl. 25 152-154 (1991)
- [15] Kriegl, A.; Michor, P.W.; The convenient setting for global analysis (1997); AMS Math. Surveys and Monographs 53, AMS, Providence
- [16] Lesch, M.; On the non commutative residue for pseudo-differential operators with logpolyhomogeneous symbol Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 17 151-187 (1998)
- [17] Magnot, J-P.; The Kähler form on the loop group and the Radul cocycle on Pseudo-differential Operators; GROUP'24: Physical and Mathematical aspects of symmetries, Proceedings of the 24th International Colloquium on Group Theorical Methods in Physics, Paris, France, 15-20 July 2002; Institut of Physic conferences Publishing 173, 671-675, IOP Bristol and Philadelphia (2003)
- [18] Magnot, J-P.; Chern forms on mapping spaces, Acta Appl. Math. 91, no. 1, 67-95 (2006).
- [19] Magnot, J-P.; Renormalized traces and cocycles on the algebra of S<sup>1</sup>-pseudo-differential operators; Lett. Math. Phys. 75 no2, 111-127 (2006)
- [20] Magnot, J-P.; The Schwinger cocycle on algebras with unbounded operators. Bull. Sci. Math. 132, no. 2, 112-127 (2008).
- [21] Magnot, J-P.; Ambrose-Singer theorem on diffeological bundles and complete integrability of KP equations. Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 10, no 9 (2013) Article ID 1350043.
- [22] Magnot, J-P.; On Diff(M)-pseudodifferential operators and the geometry of non linear grassmannians. *Mathematics* **4**, 1; doi:10.3390/math4010001 (2016)
- [23] Magnot, J-P; Reyes E. G.; On the Cauchy problem for a Kadomtsev-Petviashvili hierarchy on non-formal operators and its relation with a group of diffeomorphisms. ArXiv:1808.03791
- [24] Magnot, J-P.; On the geometry of  $Diff(S^1)$ -pseudodifferential operators based on renormalized traces. Proceedings of the International Geometry Center **14** No. 1, 19-48 (2021)
- [25] Magnot, J-P.; Rubtsov, V.; On the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili hierarchy in an extended class of formal pseudo-differential operators *Theoret. Math. Phys.* 207, No. 3, 799-826 (2021)
- [26] Mickelsson, J.; Wodzicki residue and anomalies on current algebras Integrable models and strings A. Alekseev and al. eds. Lecture notes in Physics 436, Springer (1994)
- [27] Neeb, K-H.; Towards a Lie theory of locally convex groups Japanese J. Math. (2006) 1, 291-468
- [28] Omori, H.; Infinite Dimensional Lie Groups (1997) AMS Translations of Mathematical Monographs no 158 Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I.
- [29] Paycha, S; Regularised integrals, sums and traces. An analytic point of view. University Lecture Series 59, AMS (2012).
- [30] Pressley, A.; Segal, G.; Loop Groups Oxford Univ. Press (1988)

#### JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT

- [31] O.A.Radul; Lie albegras of differential operators, their central extensions, and W-algebras Funct. Anal. Appl. 25, 25-39 (1991)
- [32] Seeley, R.T.; Complex powers of an elliptic operator AMS Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 10, 288-307 (1968)
- [33] Schwinger, J.; Field theory of commutators; Phys. Rev. Lett. 3, 296-297 (1959)
- [34] Scott, S.; Traces and determinants of pseudodifferential operators; OUP (2010)
- [35] Wodzicki, M.; Local invariants in spectral asymmetry Inv. Math. 75, 143-178 (1984)

CNRS, LAREMA, SFR MATHSTIC, F-49000 Angers, France, and, Lycé Jeanne d'Arc, Avenue de Grande Bretagne, F-63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France

JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT: jean-pierr.magnot@ac-clermont.fr

Received 12/12/2022

10